JAN 0 2 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

NO. 314391

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

V.

ABRAHAM LOPEZ, Appellant,

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Mitch Harrison

Attorney for Appellant

Harrison Law Firm

101 Warren Avenue N

Seattle, Washington 98109

Tel (253) 335 - 2965

####

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTIONS VIOLATED BENJAMIN LOPEZ'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.
- 2. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT WHEN MAKING IMPROPER STATEMENTS IN HIS CLOSING ARGUMENT AND THE ONLY APPROPRIATE REMEDY IS DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE.
- 3. THE RARE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CONDUCT ABOVE MAKE THE ONLY APPROPRIATE REMEDY DISMISSAL OF THE CONVICTIONS WITH PREJUDICE.

#### II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S "TO CONVICT" INSTRUCTIONS ALLOWED THE JURY TO CONVICT MR. LOPEZ, EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.
- 2. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION'S USE OF EMOTIONAL APPEALS TO THE JURY CONSTITUTES MISCONDUCT.
- 3. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION USING THE JURY'S FEARS OF GANG VIOLENCE CONSTITUTES MISCONDUCT.
- 4. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION'S USE OF GANG AFFILIATION EVIDENCE AS PROPENSITY EVIDENCE CONSTITUTES MISCONDUCT.
- 5. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION PERSONALLY VOUCHING FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF A WITNESS CONSTITUTES MISCONDUCT.
- 6. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION MISSTATING THE LAW REGARDING HIS BURDEN OF PROOF CONSTITUTES MISCONDUCT.
- 7. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION'S STATEMENTS REGARDING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S STATE OF MIND CONSTITUTES MISCONDUCT.
- 8. WHETHER THE PROSECUTION REPEATEDLY ARGUING FACTS NOT IN EVIDENCE CONSTITUTES PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.
- 9. Under RAP 12.2, whether the Court should dismiss Abrah Lopez's conviction with prejudice in light of the unique circumstances of his case.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS.

**BBQ**. On April 22, 2011, Alexis Hernandez (age 17) and two brothers, Benjamin (age 17) and Abraham Lopez (age 15), attended a barbeque together. CP 8-10; Vol. 10, RP 186-190. Benjamin and Abraham had arrived at the barbeque first. Vol. 10, RP 188. About 15 minutes after Benjamin and Abraham arrived at the party, Alexis arrived through the front door. RP 187-89.

Going to Buy Some Weed. Benjamin told Abraham and Alexis that he wanted to leave the party briefly and go buy some marijuana. RP 190. Benjamin knew a local weed dealer, Kenney Wilkins, but he had no car and no way to get to his house to pick it up. Vol. 10, RP 190. Murillo, a co-defendant, was 22 years old, had a driver's license and a car. Vol. 10, RP 189. Once Murillo arrived, all three boys got into his car and left to the party to go buy some weed. Vol. 10, RP 189. Even Alexis, the State's crucial witness, testified that they left the party to "buy bud." Vol. 7, RP 139-141; Vol. 7, RP 171.

On the way to Watkin's house, the four drove by the former home of Adan Beltran, a rival gang member. Vol. 10, RP 191-94. As they passed the house, someone in the car had said that they thought they saw Beltran in the front yard of the house. Vol. 10, RP 193. Believing that Beltran had been deported, Benjamin doubted that they had actually seen Beltran. Vol. 10, RP 193-94.

Suddenly, Benjamin, who sat in the front driver's seat, heard Alexis "rack" a gun. RP 198. Benjamin saw Alexis hand forward an object to the driver, Murillo. Vol. 10, RP 199. Although he did not get a full look at it, Benjamin

believed it was a gun because the noise he had heard moments earlier. Vol. 10, RP 199.

At that point, Murillo stopped the vehicle near the trailer where the men had thought they saw Beltran. Murillo and Alexis jumped out of the car and disappeared around the other side of the trailer when Murillo and Alexis had seen Beltran. Vol. 10, RP 201-04. Benjamin remained in the car the entire time. Vol. 10, RP 201-14. Abraham stepped out of the car but remained within only a few feet of it, until Benjamin told his younger brother to get back into the car. Vol. 10, RP 203.

At that point, Benjamin and Abraham heard multiple gunshots. Vol. 10, RP 203. Immediately after the gunshots, Alexis and Murillo were seen by the two boys running back around the trailer. They both quickly got back into the car, sitting in the same respective positions in the car as they were when they left. Murillo drove away at a high rate of speed. Vol. 10, RP 205. As they drove away, Benjamin had asked Murillo what had happened. Murillo told him to shut up and to not worry about it. Vol. 10, RP 204-06.

Police would eventually locate Murillo's vehicle driving through Quincy. The three juveniles were still in the car. Vol. 10, RP 210. Murillo tried to evade the pursuing police vehicles, but the car was eventually stopped by authorities using spike strips. Vol. 10, RP 212. Once the car was immobilized, Murillo jumped out of the car and fled the scene on foot. He was later found in an orchard 100 yards away and identified as 23-year-old Robert Murillo. CP 9. None of the juveniles fled the scene. CP 8-10. They were all taken into custody.

Because Murillo and Alexis had demanded that they stay quiet,

Abraham and his brother refused to tell police what had occurred. Vol. 10, RP

210-14. Alexis initially spoke with investigators, but did not tell them who the shooter was. CP 6-11. He eventually invoked his *Miranda* rights, but it was not clear whether they were read to him before the interview started. CP 5-11.

#### B. CHARGES.

On April 25, 2011, the State charged all four defendants. Abraham was initially charged in juvenile court, but was eventually transferred to adult court to be charged with his brother as an accomplice. Originally, the State believed that Murillo was the shooter, charging him accordingly. CP 1-4. But it would later argue that 15-year-old Abraham was the shooter.

Mr. Lopez was charged with Murder in the Second Degree, Drive-By Shooting, and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree. On December 29, 2011, the State amended the charges to include one Count of Premeditated Murder in the First Degree. In addition, the State alleged several aggravators, including drive-by shooting and a gang aggravator.

#### C. MURILLO PLEA STATEMENT

On December 11, 2013, Murillo pleaded guilty to second degree murder for this offense. In his plea statement, Murillo did not admit whether he was a shooter or merely an accomplice. In fact, all that his plea statement says is, On April 22, 2011, I was the driver in a drive by shooting that caused the death of another, to wit Adan Beltran."

#### D. ALEXIS HERNANDEZ'S TESTIMONY.

Hernandez claimed that at some point during the car ride, Abraham opened the door, and exited the car. Hernandez claimed he didn't see anything - he was looking the other way, "because [he] trusted these guys." Shortly thereafter, Hernandez heard two gunshots and claimed that Abraham came back into the vehicle wearing gloves, a bandana, and a hoodie, and brandishing a silver revolver. Vol. 7, RP 177-180. Hernandez's testimony is the only evidence identifying Abraham as the shooter, and was directly refuted by Abraham's brother Benjamin. Benjamin testified that upon arriving at Beltran's home, Hernandez and Murillo exited the vehicle together armed with guns. He watched as they disappeared behind the trailer, heard two gunshots, and assumed that one, or both, of his acquaintances had shot Beltran.

#### E. HERNANDEZ'S IMMUNITY

In exchange for testifying for the State at the Lopez Brother's trial, the State promised to drop all charges against Hernandez. Aside from Hernandez's bargained for testimony, no evidence was provided to corroborate Mr. Hernandez's version of the events leading up to the shooting, or made his culpability appear any less likely than those of his acquaintances.

To the contrary, the only fingerprints recovered from the firearms in the vehicle belonged to Mr. Hernandez. However, the police struck a deal with Hernandez before performing a full investigation. Police never tested the gloves or other clothing found in the car for DNA evidence, or administered a polygraph test to Mr. Hernandez.

#### F. THE VERDICT

Before deciding Abraham's guilt, the jury deliberated for several days.

During that time, the jury submitted multiple jury questions. CP 207-12. The jury acquitted Abraham and Benjamin of Murder in the First Degree. In addition, it easily rejected each of the numerous aggravating allegations. However, the jury still found Abraham guilty of Drive-By Shooting and Felony Murder in the Second Degree. CP 229-30. The State did not request that the jury decide whether Abraham or his brother acted as an accomplice or a principle.

#### IV. ARGUMENTS

A. THE TRIAL COURT'S "TO CONVICT" INSTRUCTIONS VIOLATED DUE PROCESS, BECAUSE THEY FAILED TO ACCURATELY CONVEY THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD TO THE JURY.

#### 1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court must correctly instruct the jury as to the law. Although the specific language of the instructions is left to the discretion of the trial court, the instructions as a whole must correctly state the law. When reviewing whether jury instructions do that, an appellate court's review is de novo.

2. THE TRIAL COURT'S "TO CONVICT" INSTRUCTIONS ALLOWED THE JURY TO CONVICT MR. LOPEZ EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT,

The jury must be instructed that the state has the burden to prove each essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>4</sup> As a corollary, the court must properly instruct the jury on the presumption of innocence and the reasonable doubt standard because it "provides concrete substance for the

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 787, 684 P.2d 668 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Boeing Co. v. Key, 101 Wn. App. 629, 633, 5 P.3d 16 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 171, 892 P.2d 29 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275 (1993).

presumption of innocence."<sup>5</sup> The importance of the reasonable doubt instruction cannot be underestimated: it is the "cornerstone" of our criminal justice system.<sup>6</sup>

The reasonable-doubt standard plays a vital role in the American scheme of criminal procedure. It is a prime instrument for reducing the risk of convictions resting on factual error. The standard provides concrete substance for the presumption of innocence -- that bedrock "axiomatic and elementary" principle whose "enforcement lies at the foundation of the administration of our criminal law." It also "impresses on the trier of fact the necessity of reaching a subjective state of certitude of the facts in issue."

These vital constitutional rights are conveyed to the jury through the Court's "to convict" instructions, which provide trial courts with time-tested instructions that adequately explain to the jury how to apply the law to the facts of the case. For most crimes, our State offers pattern jury instructions. These instructions "are drafted and approved by a committee that includes judges, law professors, and practicing attorneys;" and "have the advantage of thoughtful adoption and provide some uniformity in instructions throughout the state." *Id.* 

Most importantly, the WPIC's define the reasonable doubt standard. This standard requires the jury's to acquit unless the evidenced at trial overcomes the presumption of innocence:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id*.

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Smith, 174 Wash. App. at 368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 363 (1970).

<sup>9</sup> Id.

<sup>10</sup> State v. Bennett, 161 Wn. 2d 303, 307-308, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

See, e.g., WPIC 35.19 (emphasis added).

To ensure that the jury applies the reasonable doubt standard and the presumption of innocence correctly, it is vital that the Court's "To-Convict" Instruction for each crime charged because it serves as a 'yardstick' by which the jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence." Consequently, when the "To-Convict" Instructions misstate the substantive elements of the criminal offense or the jury's duty to convict or acquit, reversal is the usual remedy. Such an error taints the entire trial because:

the essential connection to a "beyond a reasonable doubt" factual finding cannot be made where the instructional error consists of a mis-description of the burden of proof, which vitiates all the jury's findings. A reviewing court can only engage in pure speculation—its view of what a reasonable jury would have done. And when it does that, "the wrong entity judge[s] the defendant guilty." 13

These instructions convey to the jury the importance of convicting if convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, while also demanding that the jury acquit the defendant of all charges if not convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. <sup>14</sup> Jury instructions must convey the duty to acquit if the State's burden is not met;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> State v. DeRyke, 149 Wn.2d 906, 910, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003) (If "To-Convict" instructions misstate the applicable law, a reviewing court may not rely on other instructions to supply the element missing from the "to convict" instruction.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See State v. Smith, 174 Wn. App. 359, 366, 298 P.3d 785, 789-90 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Sullivan, 508 U.S. 281 (quoting Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 578 (1986)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Smith, 174 Wn. App. at 366.

instructing the jury otherwise improperly relieves the state of its fundamental burden and is reversible error.<sup>15</sup>

In *State v. Smith*, this Court has already decided the issue at hand and, unless this court reverses that recent decision, reversal is required. In *Smith*, the same trial court and judge inappropriately modified the WPIC instructions located after every "to-convict" instruction. The trial court instructed the jury "if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt ..., then *you should* return a verdict of not guilty." In describing the jury's duty to acquit, this instruction altered the phrase "it will be *your duty* to find the defendant not guilty," by replacing the phrase "will be your duty" with the phrase "you *should*." This court held that by replacing the term "your duty" with "should," the trial court's instructions relieved the State of its burden of proving all of the required elements beyond a reasonable doubt, thereby violating due process and constituting manifest constitutional error.

Here, the court's "to convict" instructions stated the jury's duty to acquit in identical language: "if, after weighing the evidence, you find [the elements] have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then you *should* return a verdict of not guilty." RP 18, 24; Vol 12. This instruction, like in *Smith*, clearly confused the jury and allowed them to render a guilty verdict even if they may have had a reasonable doubt as to Abraham's guilt. These instructions, therefore, failed to "make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror." 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Id.

<sup>16</sup> Id. at 789 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

Because this error undermined the reasonable doubt standard and Abraham's constitutional right to be presumed innocent, the error infected the jury verdict and was by its very nature structural. <sup>18</sup> Prejudice for such an error must be presumed. <sup>19</sup> Consequently, *Smith* requires reversal of Abraham's convictions. If this court does not dismiss his convictions, as argued below, this court must remand for a new trial.

B. THE PROSECUTOR'S ENTIRE CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS INFECTED WITH COUNTLESS INSTANCES OF MISCONDUCT, AND PREJUDICE SHOULD BE PRESUMED WHEN A 15-YEAR-OLD BOY IS CONVICTED OF MURDER BASED ENTIRELY ON THE TESTIMONY OF AN ACCOMPLICE WHO WAS GRANTED FULL IMMUNITY.

A prosecutor engages in misconduct during closing argument when he makes prejudicial statements that prejudice the defendant.<sup>20</sup> The prosecutor's comments must be reviewed in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given.<sup>21</sup>

If the prosecuting attorney's statements were improper and the defendant objected to them at trial, then the court must show that there was a "substantial likelihood that the comments affected the jury.<sup>22</sup> If the defendant fails to object to a prosecutor's improper argument, he must show that the comments were flagrant or ill-intentioned and that the prejudice caused by those comments could not have been cured by a curative instruction.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 149 (2006) (describing structural error).

<sup>19</sup> State v. Strode, 167 We 2d 222, 231, 217 P. 2d 310 (2009). Smith, 174 Wesh, App. at 368 (F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 231, 217 P.3d 310 (2009); Smith, 174 Wash. App. at 368 (Even if it is more likely than not the jury understood the court's use of "should" in the elements instruction as mandatory, reversal is required) State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). All reasonable inferences from the evidence are drawn in favor of the State.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> State v. Russell, 125 Wn, 2d 24, 85–86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 661, 585 P.2d 142 (1978).

Here, as discussed below, under even the more stringent standard, the prosecutor's numerous instances of misconduct were flagrant, ill-intentioned, and appeared designed to improperly affect the jury's decision. "After a careful review of the trial record and the appellate arguments of counsel," this court will likely "arrive at the inescapable conclusion that [Abraham Lopez's] trial was marred by the prosecutor's inflammatory closing argument." The inappropriate argument was so egregious as to constitute prosecutorial misconduct, the appeals to passion and prejudice therein having compromised the fairness of the trial." Irrespective of his personal beliefs, every prosecutor must ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial.

1. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT WHEN HE APPEALED TO THE PASSIONS AND PREJUDICES OF THE JURY BY ARGUING THAT THE JURY SHOULD CONVICT BENJAMIN BECAUSE IT WAS THE "RIGHT" THING TO DO.

When a prosecutor relies upon evidence or argument at trial that is "irrelevant and inflammatory", such material carries a "natural tendency to prejudice the jury against the accused." No prosecutor should engage in such conduct during closing argument. It is therefore improper for a prosecutor to attempt to align the jury with the prosecutor's office, as if it were the "right" thing to do. 28

Here, the prosecutor improperly aligned the jury with the prosecutor's office in precisely the same way. On several occasions, the prosecutor urged the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> State v. Perez-Mejia, 134 Wn. App. 907, 909, 143 P.3d 838 (2006).

<sup>23</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 537, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145.

jury to convict Abraham and his brother because it was the "right" thing to do.

This conduct was unmistakably improper.

In fact the prosecutor began his closing with argument that was clearly improper, stating: "I'm going to stand here and ask you to do what is *right*." Vol.12 RP 30. This statement set the theme for the State's closing argument, which can be viewed as nothing short of an obvious effort to align the jury with the State's case.

This prosecutor continued this theme throughout his entire argument to the jury, including his discussion of the State's most crucial witness, Alexis Hernandez. The prosecutor told the jury that it should believe Alexis because he was doing "the right thing" by coming testifying against Abraham and his brother and by giving the authorities "an initial outline that completely fit the facts of the case." Vol.12 RP 53. By telling the jury that Alexis's testimony "completely fit" the State's theory and that this was "the right thing" to do, the prosecutor improperly aligned the prosecutor's office with Alexis's testimony and implicitly put his personal stamp of approval on his testimony.

In addition to telling the jury that convicting Abraham was the "right thing to do," the prosecutor also referenced facts not in evidence when he told the jury that Alexis came forward because "his mother wanted him to." That Statement is not at all supported by the record before us. A close look to Alexis's testimony shows that he never testified that his mother was the catalyst to his coming forward, or that she told him to do the "right thing."

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