#### FILED

FEB 24, 2014

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 314391

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DIVISION III**

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent

v.

Abraham Lopez, Appellant

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GRANT COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE P.O. BOX 37 Ephrata, WA 98823-0037 (509) 754-2011

##

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

- A. <u>The "Should" Jury instruction correctly informed the jury of the</u> <u>burden of proof when read in context of other instructions, was not</u> manifest error, and even if it was, was invited by Abraham.
- 1. The Jury instructions as a whole correctly informed the jury of the burden of proof.

As defense counsel for Abraham stated, the jury was not led to believe they could convict in the absence of sufficient proof. The jury was instructed on the burden of proof, who carried it and what they needed to find Abraham guilty. CP 186. Jury instructions are evaluated in the context of the instructions as a whole. *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 78, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Jurors are presumed to follow instructions. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 766, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

In this case the jurors were instructed the State carried the burden of proof, that Abraham had no burden of proof and that Abraham was presumed innocent. While the word 'should', depending on context, may mean obligatory or merely strongly recommended, (*see* case law from around the country on this issue, infra) the context of this instruction clearly puts the burden on the State and indicates the jury can only enter a verdict of guilty if they find so beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### 2. The error, if any, was not Manifest Constitutional error.

RAP 2.5 cautions appellate courts against reviewing errors that were not objected to unless such errors are manifest constitutional errors. State v. Smith, 174 Wn. App. 359, 298 P.3d 785 (April 9, 2013) held that using duty vs should was manifest constitutional error without analysis. Id. at 365. In cases where a legal theory is not discussed in the opinion, that case is not controlling on a future case where the legal theory is properly raised." Berschauer/Phillips Constr. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 824, 881 P.2d 986 (1994) accord Kucera v. Dep't of Transp., 140 Wn.2d 200, 220, 995 P.2d 63 (2000) (quoting In re Electric Lightwave, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 530, 541, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994) (if a case fails to specifically raise or decide an issue, it cannot be controlling precedent for the issue)). Smith was decided after the trial in this case. However, Smith was, to the State's knowledge, the first case in the nation to reverse on this issue, and the vast majority of courts have upheld the should language as appropriate. Indeed, the should language is in the pattern instructions of several states. This claimed error is simply not manifest within the meaning of RAP 2.5.

#### a. "Manifest" Error is One that is Obvious on the Record Because it is Contrary to Controlling Authority.

Courts in Washington generally will not review a claim of error raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). The State Supreme Court recently emphasized the reasoning behind this rule: "There is great potential for abuse when a party does not object because a party so situated could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271-72, 149 P.3d 646 (2006)). The Supreme Court also noted several other concerns addressed by the rule requiring timely objections:

It serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless expense of appellate review and further trials, facilitates appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the issues will be available, ensures that attorneys will act in good faith by discouraging them from 'riding the verdict' by purposefully refraining from objecting and saving the issue for appeal in the event of an adverse verdict, and prevents adversarial unfairness by ensuring that the prevailing party is not deprived of victory by claimed errors that he had no opportunity to address.

Id. at 749-50 (quoting BENNETT L. GERSHMAN, TRIAL ERROR AND MISCONDUCT § 6-2(b), at 472-73 (2d ed. 2007)).

Despite these concerns, an "exception exists for a claim of manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). This exception allows an appellant to obtain review of a claim raised for the first time on appeal where the error is both (1) manifest and (2) of constitutional magnitude. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (citing *State v. Kirkham*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)).

The appellant has the burden to meet both prongs in order to obtain review. See, e.g., Gordon, 172 Wn.2d at 680 (refusing to review claim and not reaching whether error was "manifest" where appellant failed to show error was of constitutional magnitude). Thus, not all constitutional errors are subject to review for the first time on appeal. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98 (noting that the exception in RAP 2.5(a) "encompasses developing case law while ensuring only certain constitutional questions can be raised for the first time on review"). Indeed, the "constitutional error exception is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can 'identify a constitutional issue not litigated below." State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (quoting State v. Valladares, 31 Wn. App. 63, 76, 639 P.2d 813 (1982)). "The exception actually is a narrow one, affording review only of certain constitutional questions." Id. The "certain constitutional questions" that fall under the RAP 2.5(a) exception are those that present a "manifest" error. An error is "manifest" where the "error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100. Expanding on this meaning, our State Supreme Court has looked to the legal dictionary definition of "manifest error": "an error that is plain and indisputable, and that amounts to a complete disregard of the controlling law or the credible evidence on the record." *Id.* at 100 n.1 (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 622 (9th ed. 2009)).

For better or worse, the "manifest error" prong of RAP 2.5(a) is often cast in terms of "actual prejudice." *See, e.g., Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d at 676 (noting that "[a] constitutional error is manifest if the appellant can show actual prejudice"). "This 'actual prejudice' language has frustrated and confused lawyers, clerks, and judges for years because the term of art, 'actual prejudice,' involves a different balance than does a harmless error analysis, which determines whether reversal is warranted." *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 400 n.8, 267 P.3d 511 (2011). The Supreme Court has attempted to highlight the distinction between the "manifest" error prong of RAP 2.5(a) and the harmless-error analysis by pointing out that "the focus of the actual prejudice [*i.e.* the manifest-error finding] must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100; *see also Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d at 676 n.2 (quoting *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 100) ("To elaborate on the distinction between a manifest error and a harmless error, a manifest error is 'so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review."")).

The "manifest" error analysis therefore focuses on whether the error is obvious on the record. And the natural benchmark for gauging the "obviousness" of the error is the legal authority in existence at the time of the alleged error—a notion our Supreme Court has alluded to in its "manifest" error jurisprudence. *See O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 100 n.1 (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 622 (9th ed. 2009) (defining "manifest error" as, "an error that is plain and indisputable, and that amounts to a complete disregard of the controlling law or the credible evidence on the record"")).

#### b. Substantial Body of Case Law Holds that Use of the Word "Should" in the Elements Instruction is Not Error.

Had the Lopez Brothers objected to the trial court's instructions in this case, the issue before the Court would be whether use of the word "should" in the elements instruction was error. However, because the Brothers failed to object, the question is much narrower: was use of the word "should" a "manifest" error—*i.e.* one that was obvious on the record

in light of controlling authority? Because a substantial body of legal authority holds that use of the word "should" in the elements instruction is not error at all, and even defense counsel urged that it was not error, the trial court's use of the word "should" in this case could not be a "manifest" error.

Consider the federal case law. In *Willingham v. Mullen*, 296 F.3d 917 (10th Cir. 2002), the jury was instructed as follows:

If you find and believe beyond a reasonable doubt under the law and the evidence herein that the said defendant did commit the offense of murder in the first degree as charged in the complaint and information herein, *you will* find the defendant guilty of said offense and so state by your verdict. However, if you fail to find and believe the defendant guilty or if you entertain a reasonable doubt as to his guilt, then in either case *you should* return a verdict of not guilty.

Willingham, 296 F.3d at 929 (emphasis added).

Willingham argued that use of the word "should" "allowed the jury some discretion to convict even if they harbored a reasonable doubt about his guilt." *Id.* In rejecting this claim, the Tenth Circuit noted that "'the term 'should,' when used as it was used by the trial court, is defined as expressing an obligation or duty. 'Should' is never placed on the level with 'may,' which is clearly permissive."" *Id.* (quoting *Willingham v. State*, 1997 OK CR 62, 947 P.2d 1074 (Okla. Crim. App. 1997)). The Tenth Circuit went on to explain that "the [United States] Supreme Court has never indicated that the mandatory force inherent in the term 'should' is insufficient to properly guide a jury's application of the reasonable doubt standard." *Id.* The court further noted that the trial court referred to reasonable doubt multiple times during its instructions, emphasizing that a not guilty verdict "must" follow if there was reasonable doubt. *Id.* Thus, when viewed in the context of the entire instructions, use of the word "should" properly conveyed the obligatory nature of the jury's task and did not entitle Willingham to federal habeas relief. *See id.; see also United States v. Hamilton*, 792 F.2d 837, 840 (9th Cir. 1986) (finding no plain error based on jury instructions where "[t]he jury was properly instructed that [the defendant] was presumed innocent and that he should be acquitted if there was a reasonable doubt as to his guilt").<sup>1</sup>

The state case law is even more compelling, especially given the several states across the country that use "should" as part of their pattern elements instruction. In *State v. Munoz*, 240 P.3d 311 (Colo. 2009), for example, the Colorado Court of Appeals reviewed the propriety of their pattern elements instruction, which states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unfortunately, the *Hamilton* case does not quote the exact language of the challenged instructions.

After considering all of the evidence, if you decide the prosecution has proven each of the elements beyond a reasonable doubt, *you should* find the defendant guilty of the offense charged.

After considering all of the evidence, if you decide the prosecution has failed to prove any one or more of the elements beyond a reasonable doubt, *you should* find the defendant not guilty of the offense charged.

240 P.3d at 315. *Munoz* argued "that the use of the word 'should' in the court's instructions to the jury left the issue of whether the prosecution proved defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt to the jury's discretion rather than informing the jury that it was obligated to return a not guilty verdict if the prosecution failed to present sufficient proof." *Id.* at 317.

The court rejected this argument, concluding that "the common meaning of 'should' conveys an obligatory command and not a permissive request." *Id.* The court noted that "courts interpreting the word 'should' in other types of jury instructions have also found that the word conveys to the jury a sense of duty or obligation and not discretion." *Id.* Further, the court explained that its conclusion was supported by reading the instructions in their entirety, one of which told the jury that it '*will* find the defendant not guilty' if the prosecution failed to meet its burden of proof. *Id.* at 318. Thus, the court held that "the jurors could not have interpreted the word 'should' to mean that they could base their decision on their own

discretion or that they were free to find defendant guilty even if the prosecution did not meet its burden of proof." *Id.* at 318-19.

Similarly, in *State v. Sanders*, 912 N.E.2d 1231 (Ill. 2009), the trial court instructed the jury that the defendant was presumed innocent and that this presumption remained unless the State proved the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 912 N.E.2d at 1232. The jury was also given the pattern elements instruction, which stated:

If you find from your consideration of all the evidence that this proposition has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, *you should* find the defendant guilty. If you find from your consideration of all the evidence that this proposition has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, *you should* find the defendant not guilty.

*Id.* at 1233 (emphasis added). Sanders argued that "the word 'should' in [the pattern instruction was] permissive and would allow the jury to convict him even it had reasonable doubt about his guilt." *Id.* The Illinois Court of Appeals rejected this claim, noting that it could find no support for the contention that the word "should" diminishes the presumption of innocence or the burden of proof. *Id.* at 1234.

Like Colorado and Illinois, Florida's pattern elements instruction also uses "should." In *Torrence v. State*, 574 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Court of Appeals reviewed a pattern instruction that stated: "If you have a reasonable doubt, *you should* find the defendant not guilty. If you have no reasonable doubt, *you should* find the defendant guilty." 574 So.2d at 1189. Echoing the same argument made by defendants in other states, Torrence argued that "use of the word 'should,' rather than 'must,' in this instruction convey[ed] the impression that it [was] *discretionary* with the jury whether to acquit if they [had] a reasonable doubt concerning the defendant's guilt." *See id.* The court disagreed, holding that "the instruction [gave] the jury only two choices depending on whether they [had] . . . a reasonable doubt and convey[ed] the clear meaning that an acquittal [was] the jury's only choice if they entertain[ed] such a reasonable doubt." *Id.*<sup>2</sup>

These decisions from states that use "should" in their pattern elements instruction are emblematic of a wider consensus that "should" properly informs the jury of its obligation in rendering a verdict. *Wright v. State*, 730 N.E.2d 713, 716 (Ind. 2000) (finding no error in instruction that informed the jury, "If . . . you think there is a real possibility that [the defendant] is not guilty, you should give him the benefit of the doubt and find him not guilty"); *State v. McCloud*, 891 P.2d 324, 334 (Kan. 1995) (finding no error in elements instruction using "should" and noting that "the word 'should' as used in instructions conveys a sense of duty and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Torrence was recently cited by the Florida Court of Appeals as the sole basis for summarily affirming a conviction. *Marshall v. State*, 100 So.3d 224 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 4th Dist. 2012).

obligation and could not be misunderstood by a jury"); *Tyson v. State*, 457 S.E.2d 690, 691 (Ga. 1995) (finding no error in elements instruction that told jury it "should acquit" if there was reasonable doubt, and noting that "the term 'should acquit' is language of command"); *Commonwealth v. Hammond*, 504 A.2d 940, 941-42 (Pa. 1986) (finding no error in elements instruction using "should" and noting that the term "should" is defined "as implying a duty or obligation"); *State v. Caffey*, 365 S.W.2d 607, 611-12 (Mo. 1963) (finding no error in elements instruction that stated, "if you have a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt, you should acquit"); *cf. Tidwell v. State*, 118 So. 2d 292 (1960) ("The words 'it is your duty' are equivalent to the word 'should,' since 'should' as used in instructions to the jury conveys the sense of duty or obligation.").

As far back as 1914, the Montana Supreme Court rejected a claim of error based on use of the word "should" in the elements instruction, reasoning as follows:

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